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J.J. Barralet’s antiquarian sketching 
tour of Tipperary in 1780 

__________ 
 

PETER HARBISON  
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE RISING SWELL OF PRIDE IN THEIR OWN COUNTRY AMONG THE IRISH UPPER 
classes early in the last quarter of the eighteenth century, as manifested by 
the Volunteer Movement and Grattan’s Parliament, also found expression in 

an increasing interest in the country’s ancient monuments, such as dolmens, church-
es, castles and round towers. This burgeoning branch of antiquarian endeavour was 
spearheaded, among others, by William Burton, later Conyngham (1733-1796),1 

who gathered around him a coterie of like-minded enthusiasts to found the 
Hibernian Antiquarian Society early in 1779.2 Burton would have seen Francis 
Grose’s publications eulogising the antiquities of England and Wales earlier in the 
decade, and the inclusion of similar Irish material in Paul Sandby’s Virtuosi’s 
Museum of 1778 may have furthered his resolve to dream of producing comparable 
volumes of engravings to glorify the beauties of Ireland’s ancient heritage in stone. 
But, to do so, he needed artists whose drawings could be engraved, and he had 
apparently already started to collect antiquarian drawings some years before he got 
his newly formed Antiquarian Society to row in with him in commissioning others 
to help fill the gaps in his portfolio.  

One of those whom he employed was Gabriel Beranger (c.1729-1817), a 
Huguenot artist,3 who was sent off with the Italian fresco painter and stage designer 
Angelo Maria Bigari 4 to draw selected antiquities in Connacht and neighbouring 
counties.5 This major expedition occupied more than two months, from 9th June to 
18th August in the hot summer of 1779, and in the ensuing autumn both went off 
again on a much briefer sketching tour of Glendalough.6 In late September and 
October of the following year, 1780, Burton Conyngham dispatched Beranger and 
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1 – A proof for an engraving of the interior of the cathedral at the Rock of Cashel bears the names 
of Barralet on the bottom left and Malton on the bottom right, presumably those of the artist and 
engraver respectively (courtesy National Library of Ireland (NLI) [Prints & Drawings Dept, 2122 TX(82)])



the Dublin-born artist John James Barralet (1747-1815) to cover south Wicklow and 
Wexford.7 All three tours were recorded in Beranger’s diary, generous excerpts of 
which Sir William Wilde published in a number of articles in the 1870s – fortunate-
ly for us, because the manuscript volume of the diary has gone missing in the mean-
time.8 The seemingly feverish sketching activity of these three artists, whose names 
curiously all began with the letter B (as in Burton), does, however, leave undocu-
mented gaps for the spring and summer of 1780, during which Barralet is likely to 
have been commissioned to cover county Tipperary, as he is on record as having 
exhibited three Tipperary pictures with the Society of Artists in Ireland in 1780, 
engravings of two of which we will probably be able to identify below.9 

The material which forms the basis for the reconstruction of this tour comes 
primarily (and secondarily) from what we may presume were the contents of 
William Burton Conyngham’s portfolio of antiquarian drawings. Some of these 
must have been sold posthumously in 1810, along with his great library of books, to 
Austin Cooper (1759-1830), whose family retained at least a part of them until they 
were acquired in 1994 by the National Library, which is where the few surviving 
original drawings from the tour are now preserved.10 Further evidence comes from 
Tipperary illustrations in Grose’s Antiquities of Ireland (1794-96), which included a 
number of engravings after Barralet originals, stated to have come from Burton 
Conyngham’s collection. Conyngham must have been saddened that his own plan to 
publish volumes of engravings under the aegis of the Hibernian Antiquarian Society 
had come to nothing because two of its members, Colonel Charles Vallancey and 
the Rev Edward Ledwich, caused the collapse of the Society around 1783. But, 
despite the disappointment, he was magnanimous enough to offer his collection of 
drawings to Ledwich, who took on the completion of Captain Francis Grose’s 
Antiquities of Ireland after Grose died suddenly early in 1791 when the project was 
still in its infancy. This publication must have come close to fulfilling Burton 
Conyngham’s original dream, and the engravings in its two volumes provide us with 
much of the material which helps us to reconstruct Barralet’s artistic activity in 
Tipperary – more, indeed, than has managed to survive in the Cooper Collection. 

John James Barralet 11 was an artist born of a French (probably Huguenot) 
family, which must have had artistic blood in its veins as his brother, John 
Melchior,12 became a painter working mainly in England. John James (doubtless 
Jean Jacques in his parents’ minds) also worked as a young man in England after his 
earlier initial studies at the Dublin Society Schools, and in London he founded not 
one, but two academies. He returned to Ireland in 1779 to take up a teaching post in 
his alma mater as a temporary stand-in for the ailing director of the Drawing 
School, James Mannin. But his hopes of succeeding Mannin were dashed later that 
year when political influence swayed the voting in favour of a man named Waldron, 
whose reputation has long since sunk into oblivion. Burton Conyngham had backed 
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Barralet in the competition for the job, and his patronage of the artist during the fol-
lowing year by sending him on tour to Tipperary and Wexford can be taken as a ges-
ture of sympathy and support. Barralet went on to outshine his successful rival in 
having a number of his drawings engraved for Milton’s Seats in the 1780s, and cre-
ating a charming evocation of the Rutland Fountain in Merrion Square in an engrav-
ing which went through a number of editions. However, it was probably frustration 
at not being appreciated sufficiently in Ireland that led him to take up his roots in his 
late forties and sail across the Atlantic to settle in Philadelphia, where he spent the 
rest of his life.13 

The first of Barralet’s views discussed here as having been exhibited at the 
Society of Artists in 1780 is that of the interior of Cashel Cathedral (Plate 1). This is 
preserved for us not in an original, but in what is probably a proof for an engraving 
which may never have been actually issued. It is signed by Barralet and Malton 
respectively on either side of the caption, Inside View of Cashell. Large in format 
(32.75 x 22.6 cm), it shows the vista looking from the west end of the building 
through the crossing arch to what little remains of the east window, with the archi-
tecture being admired by well-dressed ‘tourists’ of the time. It makes the chancel 
look longer than it is, but that is perhaps the contribution of the engraver, who may 
be reasonably identified as Thomas Malton, Senior, a man widely known for his 
expertise in perspective, and also the father of James, famous for his prints of 
Dublin.14 After a number of short visits to Ireland, Malton père came to live in the 
country permanently in 1785, making it likely that the now-lost original drawing, 
presumably of 1780, was not engraved until at least five years later, when Malton as 
engraver probably added greater depth to the view of Cashel Cathedral by visually 
lengthening the chancel. 

The second Barralet drawing of Tipperary that was exhibited at the Society of 
Artists was an interior view of Holycross Abbey (Plate 2). Once again, we do not 
have the original, but it was almost certainly the basis for the frontispiece of volume 
I of Grose’s Antiquities, dated 1st June 1793, which was by a different engraver, 
who, if anything, has foreshortened the chancel, thus supporting the notion that it 
was probably the engraver Malton who was responsible for the deep perspective in 
the Cashel interior mentioned above. 

The third of Barralet’s Tipperary pictures exhibited in 1780 – an exterior 
view of Cashel – has yet to be identified (if it survives at all), and for his other 
drawings of the county not in the exhibition we have to rely mainly on further 
engravings in Grose’s two volumes, together with a few originals, mentioned below. 
The first of these engravings is the exterior of Holycross, forming plate 113 of the 
first of Grose’s volumes (Plate 3), where the letterpress – like that of all the other 
engraved views discussed below – specifically states that the original was in the col-
lection of the Right Honourable William Conyngham, the name which Burton 
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3 – Barralet’s exterior view 
of Holy Cross was engraved 
as plate 113 in Grose’s 
ANTIQUITIES OF IRELAND, vol. I. 
 
4 – Plan of Holy Cross 
Abbey by an as yet 
unidentified hand  
(courtesy NLI [Prints & Drawings  
Dept, 2122 TX(97)]) 

 
opposite 

2 – Barralet’s lost drawing 
of the interior of Holy Cross 
Abbey, presumably executed 
in 1780,  
It was obviously considered good  
enough to be made into this 
frontispiece for the first volume of 
Grose’s ANTIQUITIES OF IRELAND, 
c.1794.



adopted when he inherited Slane Castle in 1781.15 The plan of the abbey (plate 114 
in volume I of Grose), is based on an original drawing that is now preserved in the 
Cooper Collection at the National Library (Plate 4). That it, too, came from the 
Burton Conyngham Collection we may infer from the N.B. on page viii of that same 
publication, where the editor, Edward Ledwich, states that, ‘the plans were taken 
from original drawings in the collection of the Right Honourable William 
Conyngham’, though, as was his wont, Ledwich did not provide the name of the 
artist or surveyor who drew the original plan. Whoever he was, his fluid, though as 
yet unidentified hand wrote the following text beside it. 

The Abbey of Holycross. This building is the most perfect, and best finished, 
in Ireland, it is built of Kilkenny Marble polish’d. Ornaments and Tombs are 
extremely curious (the latter are all in Ruin’s). There is in the Middle of the 
Church a slab of Siana Marble, 8 foot long, by 4 wide & 6 inches thick. It is 
three miles from Thurles, county Tipperary. 

This plan may well have been executed by some artist or surveyor who accompa-
nied Barralet on his tour, and who, as was the case with Beranger and Bigari during 
the Connacht tour of 1779, may well have occupied himself measuring and drawing 
the plan while Barralet sketched the interior and exterior view. His surveying com-
panion can scarcely have been Beranger, who, had he been on the tour, would surely 
have left us an account of it in his extended diary mentioned above. Nor is it likely 
that Bigari was the author of the plan, as his English was not fluent enough for him 
to have written a text like that, though he might have found it easier to recognise a 
slab of Siena marble than many another in the country.  

In the letterpress on p.70 of volume I of Grose, Bigari is given as the author 
of the view of Kilcooly Abbey (illustrated as plate 115) (Plate 7), but, looking as if 
someone had found out at the last minute that this was a mistake, the name ‘Baralet’ 
was, unusually, included in the caption to the engraving. But even if we may reason-
ably exclude both Beranger and Bigari as the author of the Holycross plan, we are 
no nearer discovering who it was who did it.  

As if to support the suggestion that an as yet unidentified surveyor must have 
accompanied Barralet on the trip, the same hand is also responsible for the plan of 
Cormac’s Chapel on the Rock of Cashel (Plate 5) (now in the Cooper Collection at 
the National Library), and engraved by a different hand (in the form of plate 111) in 
the first volume of Grose’s Antiquities. What is interesting about this plan is that the 
south doorway of Cormac’s Chapel would appear to have been blocked up in the 
eighteenth century, and, for that, the chapel was unexpectedly given a west door, of 
which there is no apparent trace. Access would appear to have been gained through 
the old door in the south tower, if not also in the north tower. The original plan (but 
not the Grose engraving of it) shows a long rectangular slab in the exterior niche 
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just to the east of the main north door, and supports the notion that this was the orig-
inal location of the sarcophagus now at the interior west end of the chapel.16 

The same hand that engraved the Holycross plan is likely to have been also 
responsible for the plan of what is called the Castle of Knights Templer. Co. 
Tipperary (plate 117 in volume 1 of Grose). The Cooper Collection preserves a 
proof of this engraving (Plate 6), on which an unidentified hand corrected the 
spelling Templer to Templar – an emendation not carried out in the final printed 
engraving. Formerly attached to the proof with the aid of a pin is a scrap of paper 
bearing handwriting in ink with the following text, which also failed to make it into 
the published letterpress: ‘Remarks on the Plate to be noticed in the Description. 
The castle is vaulted in ground floor and atic Story. In the town of Thurles, belong-
ing to Mr. Mathews of Thomastown, Co. Tipperary.’ 

Despite Grose’s attribution of the castle to the Knights Templars – which, 
according to him, was only ‘ascribed to this military order on no better authority 
than tradition’ 17 – this plan is much more likely to be that of a tower-house now 
known as the Black Castle near the western end of Liberty Square in Thurles,18 and 
which is, presumably, identical to the building seen through the archway in 
Barralet’s drawing engraved under the title Thurles Castle in plate 119 of volume I 
of Grose’s Antiquities (Plate 8). The archway was most likely a town gate,19 and the 
squared and rounded towers flanking it probably belonged to the town walls that 
may once have enclosed an earlier, thirteenth-century castle, which also included a 
motte.20 This motte forms the foreground of an attractive signed Barralet pen-and-
wash drawing from the Cooper Collection (Plate 13).21 Captioned Thurles 
(Ballytrant),22 its sides appear to have been moulded into a spiral shape for easy 
access to the top,23 presumably an eighteenth-century alteration to make it into a 
folly rather like that formerly in the grounds of Templeogue House outside Dublin.24 
Just to the left of the summit of the motte is the top of a tower, which was probably 
part of the Black Castle, though its crenellated skyline seems to differ from that of 
the tower seen in Grose’s Thurles Castle engraving (Plate 8). Visible slightly to the 
left, and lower down the ‘spiral’, is the roof of a house (probably that of Mr 
Mathew), while the left of the picture focuses on a tall, round bastion which looks 
as if it were one of a number of towers spread along the length of the town walls – 
like that seen also in the Thurles Castle engraving (Plate 8). 

A further example of one of these round bastions is visible in another view 
engraved by Grose after Barralet, and bearing the title Castle of the Knights 
Templers in Thurles (Plate 11).25 It is visible just to the right of a tower-house which 
is called the Bridge Castle,26 as it guards the crossing of the River Suir at the eastern 
entrance to the town from the Cashel road. This view is the only instance among 
Barralet’s Tipperary views where we can compare the engraving with the artist’s 
original pen-and-wash drawing (Plate 12). When we place the two together, we can 
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5 – The draughtsman of the 
plan of Cormac’s Chapel on 
the Rock of Cashel has not 
yet been identified. 
He shows an unexpected door in  
the west wall and the probable 
original location of the 
sarcophagus in an exterior niche to 
the east of the north doorway. 
(courtesy National Library of 
Ireland [Prints & Drawings Dept, 
2122 TX(98)]) 

 
6 – The plan of the Castle of 
the Knights Templar is a 
proof for an engraving in the 
first volume of Grose’s 
ANTIQUITIES OF IRELAND 
(courtesy NLI [Prints & Drawings  
Dept, 2122 TX(4) 48])
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7 – Grose’s engraving of the Cistercian abbey of Kilcooley (ANTIQUITIES, I, pl. 115) 

This is the only instance of the artist’s name, ‘Baralet’, being given in the caption, but that was because it was  
wrongly attributed to Bigari in the accompanying letterpress. 

 
8 – Barralet’s drawing of Thurles Castle shows a view through a long-vanished gate in the town 

walls to a tower-house now known as the Black Castle (Grose, ANTIQUITIES, I, pl. 119) 



see how well the London engraver Sparrow has responded to the quality of the orig-
inal, making us all too aware of how sad it is that we have lost the other Barralet 
originals which went into the making of the Tipperary engravings in Grose. 
Attached to the drawing is the inscription:  

The Town of Thurles with the Castle where in the Duke of Ormond was born, 
the new Market House 27 and Part of the Knights Templars Castle belonging 
to Mr Mathew of the county Tipperary. The titular Archbishop of Cashell has 
his seat in the town. 

The apparent confusion that arises in trying to identify Grose’s nebulously circum-
scribed castles in Thurles is exacerbated by the fact that he does not use the term 
Bridge Castle for the tower-house beside the bridge, as illustrated in both the draw-
ing and the engraving.28 Yet that is the title given to a plan of a tower described as 
The Bridge Castle at Thurles, Co. Tipperary in the National Library (Plate 9). This, 
however, is signed with the initials A.C. for Austin Cooper, and dated October 
1799, but may conceivably have been copied from an original that emanated from 
the 1780 tour of Tipperary.29 

Another Thurles view by Barralet survives only in engraved form in the sec-
ond volume of Grose’s Antiquities. This is St Mary’s church (numbered plate 105), 
which is presumably that replaced by the present Protestant church built in 1852 
(Plate 14). 

A portfolio once belonging to Burton Conyngham that was later part of the 
Phillipps Collection, before being bought about seventy years ago by the National 
Library, contains a manuscript plan bearing the caption Church Castle near Thurles 
(Plate 10).30 The nave and chancel church with tower and separate building fits in so 

P E T E R  H A R B I S O N

256

9 – Plan of the Bridge Castle 
in Thurles, signed by A.C. 
[Austin Cooper] and dated 
October 1799  
(bottom right; not visible here). 
This plan was probably based on a 
lost original from 1780, which 
presumably omitted to give the 
name of the draughtsman 
(courtesy NLI [Prints & Drawings  
Dept, 2122 TX(4) 28])



well with Pococke’s description of the old Carmelite friary as ‘a convent, a tower & 
some part of the cross isle to the north’,31 that we can say with some confidence that 
it represents a plan of the friary which formerly existed near the east bank of the 
Suir where the Catholic Cathedral of the Assumption now stands.32 The words ‘The 
Reduced Drawing’ under the caption suggests that this drawing was a scaled-down 
version of the original, and prepared for inclusion in Grose’s Antiquities, but never 
actually published. The same fate may have befallen another unnumbered plan in 
the same portfolio, that described as ‘Thurles Begg 3 miles from Cashell, Co. 
Tipperary, quite in ruins’ (Plate 15), which survives in a larger and a reduced ver-
sion. Drawn originally at a scale of 25’:1”, it shows an impressive-looking tower-
house with bawn, of which little more than the foundations remain today. Both of 
these plans, about which no further information is given, may well have been prod-
ucts of the Tipperary expedition of 1780, though this cannot be proven. 

Of the other two Tipperary engravings after lost originals by Barralet in the 
second volume of Grose’s Antiquities, plate 103 illustrates the Franciscan Abbey in 
Cashel (Plate 17), which has long since disappeared. Austin Cooper’s drawing of it 
shows a man with a pickaxe seemingly in the process of demolishing it in June 
1781, which only helps towards confirming the date of 1780 for Barralet’s 
Tipperary tour.33 The angle taken by the artist provides an attractive vista through to 
the Rock of Cashel in the background. The other engraving (Plate 18) is also a 
Cashel subject, the Black or O’Hare Abbey (plate 104 in volume II of Grose), which 
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10 – CHURCH CASTLE NEAR THURLES can be identified, with probability, as the old Carmelite friary 

in the town, which was replaced by the present Cathedral of the Assumption  
(courtesy NLI [Manuscripts Dept, MS 671]) 
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opposite 

 
11 – The engraving 
described as CASTLE OF THE 
KNIGHTS TEMPLERS IN 
THURLES in Grose shows a 
view westwards past the 
Bridge Castle to the Market 
House in the background  
(Grose, ANTIQUITIES, I, pl. 116) 
 
12 – Barralet’s beautifully 
atmospheric drawing of the 
view across the bridge is the 
only Tipperary instance 
where we can compare the 
artist’s original with its 
engraved version (top)  
(courtesy NLI [Prints & Drawings 

Dept, 2122 TX(74)]) 

 
13 – Pen-and-wash drawing 
by Barralet of the Norman 
motte in Mr Mathew’s park  
at Ballytrant in Thurles, 
which includes castle 
buildings in the background  
(courtesy NLI [Prints & Drawings 

Dept, 2122 TX(67)]) 

 
14 – St Mary’s Church, 
Thurles, as engraved in the 
second volume of Grose’s 
ANTIQUITIES  
(pl. 105), was probably the 
predecessor to the present 
Church of Ireland church 



surprisingly does not take advantage of the view to the Rock in the distance, per-
haps because the building seen from an angle that would have included it was less 
attractive to the artist’s eye.  

Before concluding, it is worth making mention of two other Barralet draw-
ings of Tipperary monuments which have only survived in copies. One of these is of 
the Round Tower of Roscrea (Plate 16), which has come down to us through a copy 
made by Austin Cooper in 1784.34 It is only through the initials J.J.Bt. in small let-
ters at the bottom of the tower that we know that it must indeed be by Barralet, 
whose treatment of the masonry may have been less schematic than in Cooper’s 
copy. 

The other copy is of a castle two miles from Cashel (Plate 19), which I have 
not yet been able to identify.35 It is illustrated on page 60 of a National Library 
album, which is known as the Grose album because it contains a number of draw-
ings which were engraved in Grose’s Antiquities, but this was one which, like the 
Ballytrant drawing mentioned above, did not pass the final selection process for 
engraving. But it does help to demonstrate that it is only through the work of 
Edward Ledwich in editing Grose’s Antiquities, together with the collections of 
William Burton Conyngham and Austin Cooper, as well as the Society of Artists 
exhibition, that we are able to reconstruct the activity of Barralet in Tipperary as 
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15 – The plan of the tower-house and bawn at Thurles Begg, three miles from Cashel,  

helps to indicate the outline of the now poorly-preserved walls on the ground  
(courtesy National Library of Ireland [Manuscripts Dept, MS 671]) 
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16 – Near the bottom of 
Austin Cooper’s drawing of 
the round tower in Roscrea 
are the letters J.J.Bt., 
indicating that Cooper was 
copying an original by John 
James Barralet, which is the 
only evidence we have for 
his presence in that town  
(courtesy NLI [Prints &  
Drawings Dept, 2122 TX(1) 58])
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part of Burton Conyngham’s great scheme of around 1780 to produce volumes of 
engravings illustrating Irish antiquities. It also helps us to see his drawings as 
engraved in Grose as belonging to around 1780 rather than, as is normally thought 
to be the case, showing the monuments as they were in the 1790s, when Grose was 
published. The Tipperary tour can now join Connacht and Wicklow/Wexford, 
among others, as areas where Burton Conyngham had artists record some of 
Ireland’s most noteworthy ancient monuments as they were in the eighteenth century. 

 
_____ 

 
 

opposite 

17 – The Franciscan friary in Cashel had probably been demolished some fifteen years by the 
time Barralet’s drawing of 1780 was finally engraved (Grose, ANTIQUITIES, II, pl.103) 

18 – Barralet’s view of the Cistercian Hore Abbey presents it from an angle that does not include 
the Rock of Cashel as a background (captioned BLACK OR O’HARE ABBEY in Grose, ANTIQUITIES, II, pl.104) 
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19 – Page 60 of the National Library’s so-called ‘Grose album’ is a copy of a Barralet drawing of 

a castle two miles from Cashel that has not yet been satisfactorily identified  
(courtesy NLI [1976 TX]) 
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